Relative Noether inequality on fibered surfaces

Xinyi Yuan *
 Tong Zhang †

January 30, 2013

Contents

1	Introduction 2						
	1.1	Relative Noether inequality					
	1.2	Slope inequality and Arakelov inequality					
	1.3	Severi conjecture					
	1.4	Idea of the proofs					
2	Proof of the relative Noether inequality						
	2.1	The reduction process					
	2.2	Linear systems on curves					
	2.3	Hyperelliptic case					
	2.4	Non-hyperelliptic case					
	2.5	Proof of Theorem 1.2					
3	Slope inequality 1						
	3.1	Slope inequality for $g(Y) \leq 1$					
	3.2	Slope inequality in positive characteristic					
	3.3	Slope inequality in characteristic 0					
	3.4	Arakelov inequality					
— En	-	urtment of Mathematics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A. xy@math.berkeley.edu					

 $^{\dagger}\text{Department}$ of Mathematics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB T6G 2G1, Canada Email: tzhang5@ualberta.ca

4	Pro	of of Severi inequality	21
	4.1	Basic facts	21
	4.2	Construction of fibrations	22
	4.3	Proof of Theorem 1.5	23

1 Introduction

This paper is the algebraic version of the previous works [YZ, Zh] of the authors about linear series on arithmetic surfaces.

We work over an algebraically closed field k of any characteristic. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surface fibration of genus g over k. That is:

- (1) X is a smooth projective surface over k;
- (2) Y is a smooth projective curve over k;
- (3) f is flat with connected fibers;
- (4) The general fiber F of f is a geometrically integral curve of arithmetic genus $g := p_a(F)$.

Note that here we do *not* assume the general fiber F to be smooth. If char k = 0, then F is a smooth curve of geometric genus g. However, it is not always true if char k > 0.

A reduced and irreducible curve C over k is called *hyperelliptic* if its arithmetic genus $p_a(C) \geq 2$ and if there exists a flat morphism of degree 2 from C onto \mathbb{P}^1_k . It follows that C is automatically Gorenstein [Li2]. If F is hyperelliptic, then f is called a *hyperelliptic fibration*. Otherwise, f is called a *non-hyperelliptic fibration*.

1.1 Relative Noether inequality

The following is the main theorem of this paper.

Theorem 1.1. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a surface fibration of genus $g \ge 2$ over k, and L be a nef line bundle on X. Denote $d = \deg(L|_F)$, where F is a general fiber of f. If $2 \le d \le 2g - 2$, then

$$h^{0}(L) \leq (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2+\varepsilon}{4d})L^{2} + \frac{d+2+\varepsilon}{2}.$$

Here, $\varepsilon = 1$ if F is hyperelliptic and d is odd. Otherwise, $\varepsilon = 0$.

The most interesting case of Theorem 1.1 occurs when L is the relative dualizing sheaf $\omega_f = \omega_{X/Y} = \omega_{X/k} \otimes f^* \omega_{Y/k}^{\vee}$. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surface fibration of $g \geq 2$. We say that f is relatively minimal if X contains no (-1)-curves in fibers. In this situation, it is known that ω_f is nef. We have the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2 (Relative Noether inequality). Let $f : X \to Y$ be a relatively minimal fibration of genus $g \ge 2$ over k. Then

$$h^0(\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + g.$$

If the equality holds, then f is either a trivial fibration or hyperelliptic.

The theorem can be viewed as a relative version of the classical Noether inequality on algebraic surfaces. Recall that if X is a minimal surface of general type over k, and ω_X is the canonical bundle of X, then the Noether inequality asserts that

$$h^0(\omega_X) \le \frac{1}{2}\omega_X^2 + 2.$$

See [BHPV] for $k = \mathbb{C}$ and [Li1, Li2] for char k > 0. If the equality holds, then X has a hyperelliptic pencil. See [Ho].

As consequences of Theorem 1.2, we will obtain in the following the slope inequality, the Arakelov inequality, and Severi inequality for surfaces of maximal Albanese dimension over any field.

1.2 Slope inequality and Arakelov inequality

A surface fibration $f : X \to Y$ is called *semistable*, if all the fibers are semistable in the sense of Deligne and Mumford. The semistability implies that there are no (-1)-curves contained in fibers. In characteristic 0, the general fiber is automatically smooth. As shown in [Ta], it still holds in positive characteristic.

Theorem 1.3 (Slope inequality). Let $f : X \to Y$ be a semistable fibration of genus $g \ge 2$ over k. Then

$$\omega_f^2 \ge \frac{4g-4}{g} \deg(f_*\omega_f).$$

This theorem recovers the slope inequality of Cornalba-Harris [CH] and Xiao [Xi1] in characteristic 0, and that of Moriwaki [Mo] in arbitrary characteristics. But our proof is totally different from theirs. Their treatments respectively make essential uses of geometric invariant theory, the stability of vector bundles, or the Chow stability result of Bost [Bo]. But we derive the result from Theorem 1.2 by some arguments using coverings and reduction mod \wp .

Note that Theorem 1.2 can not be implied by the slope inequality. It turns out that Theorem 1.2 is *quite strong*, though the proof only involves the basic theory of linear series on fibered surfaces. In fact, since the slope inequality is sharp in characteristic 0, our bound is also the best in positive characteristic. For instance, if char $k \neq 2$, one can construct a hyperelliptic fibration by taking the double cover of a ruled surface branched along a smooth curve. The slope inequality for this fibration is in fact an equality. See [Xi2] for examples.

If g(Y) = 0 or 1, we even do not need f to be semistable. The slope inequality for general fibrations in these cases is directly implied by Theorem 1.2. See Theorem 3.2.

We also establish a similar result for arbitrary line bundle of small degree when char k > 0. See Theorem 3.4.

Using Theorem 1.3, we can prove the following Arakelov inequality in positive characteristic, which generalizes the original result in [Ar] over \mathbb{C} .

Theorem 1.4 (Arakelov inequality). Let f be a non-isotrivial semistable fibration of genus $g \ge 2$ over the field k of positive characteristic. Let $S \subset Y$ be the singular locus over which f degenerates. Then

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) < g^2 \deg \Omega_Y(S).$$

In [LSZ], Lu, Sheng and Zuo have used a modified version of the stability method to obtain a bound. Our bound is better than theirs. We refer to the recent survey article [Vi, Zu] for more information on Arakelov inequality. We also refer to the works by Viehweg and Zuo [VZ1, VZ2] for the generalized version of Arakelov inequality.

1.3 Severi conjecture

Let X be a smooth surface of general type over k. We say X is of maximal Albanese dimension, if the Albanese map $Alb_X : X \to Alb(X)$ is generically finite.

The Albanese map can be defined for X over an arbitrary field k. Note that since our field k is arbitrary, it is not necessary that dim Alb(X) = $h^{1,0}(X)$ in general. If $k = \mathbb{C}$, then it is true. However, for arbitrary fields, we only have dim Alb(X) $\leq h^{1,0}(X)$ [Ig]. See also [Li1] for a survey in positive characteristic.

We have the following theorem.

Theorem 1.5 (Severi inequality). Let X be a smooth minimal surface of general type over k and of maximal Albanese dimension. Then

$$\omega_{X/k}^2 \ge 4\chi(\mathcal{O}_X).$$

Let us briefly introduce the history of this inequality. It was Severi who stated it as a theorem in [Se], whose proof was not correct unfortunately. It became again as a conjecture in [Ca, Re].

When $k = \mathbb{C}$, in the fundamental paper [Xi1], Xiao proved this conjecture assuming that X has a fibration over a curve of positive genus. Konno [Ko] proved this conjecture for surfaces with even canonical divisor, namely the surfaces whose canonical divisor $K \equiv 2L$ for certain divisor L. Also Manetti [Ma] proved this conjecture for surfaces with ample canonical bundle. The complete proof of this conjecture in the complex case was given by Pardini [Pa], which is a very clever application of the slope inequality for certain fibrations she has constructed.

It is worth mentioning that this theorem is new in positive characteristics. In positive characteristic, if the Albanese map is generically finite onto its image, it may even become purely inseparable (c.f. [Li3] for examples). Such effects make estimates on positivity and differentials especially subtle. The proofs of Konno and Manetti might be available as partial evidences for this conjecture in positive characteristic, but the direct generalization of Pardini's proof should be based on the slope inequality for surface fibrations in positive characteristic whose fibers are singular, which was still unknown as we mentioned before. However, our approach again comes from a completely different point of view. Without using the slope inequality, we just apply Theorem 1.2 to the fibrations we construct. One interesting fact is that, since Theorem 1.2 holds for arbitrary fields, the proof we offer here is also independent on the base field k.

1.4 Idea of the proofs

The idea of the proof of Theorem 1.1 comes from [YZ, Zh]. Let L be a line bundle on X as stated in Theorem 1.1. Denote

$$\Delta(L) = h^{0}(L) - \frac{1}{4}L^{2}.$$

We can find the largest integer c such that L - (c - 1)F is nef. Denote L' = L - cF. We manage to reduce our problem to $\Delta(L')$.

The key observation is that: the linear system |L'| has a horizontal base locus. See Lemma 2.1. Let $|L_1|$ be the movable part of |L'|. Then the problem is reduced to $\Delta(L_1)$. Note that now

$$L_1F < L'F = LF.$$

Keep this reduction and we can get L_2, L_3, \cdots . The whole process will terminate since L_iF decreases strictly. Finally, we reach the proof of Theorem 1.1.

The proof of the slope inequality is quite novel. Using Theorem 1.2, we can *almost* get the slope inequality for arbitrary fields up to a constant related to the genera of the fiber and the base curve. See Lemma 3.1.

We first prove Theorem 1.3 in positive characteristic. By iterating the Frobenius base change, we successfully eliminate the constant term. Based on a result of Szpiro, we can prove Theorem 1.4. Then we reduce the slope inequality in characteristic 0 to positive characteristic, which leads to the final proof of Theorem 1.3.

The proof of the Severi inequality is also from the iteration of the base change. The difference is that the base change here is actually the multiplicative map of an abelian variety. This base change was used in [Pa]. By doing this, we can get a family of fibrations. Applying Theorem 1.2 to those fibrations and taking the limit, we eventually prove the Severi inequality once for all fields.

Acknowledgement. The authors would like to thank Xi Chen for a lot of valuable help and suggestions, and also Huayi Chen, Jun Lu, Sheng-Li Tan, Hang Xue, Yanhong Yang for valuable discussions. Special thanks also go to Christian Liedtke for his careful reading of the earlier version of this paper and many valuable comments.

2 Proof of the relative Noether inequality

In this section, we will prove Theorem 1.1. The idea comes from [YZ, Zh], where a very similar argument was used to prove an effective Hilbert-Samuel formula for arithmetic surfaces.

2.1 The reduction process

We first resume our notations. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surface fibration, and F be a general fiber. For any nef divisor L on X, we can find an integer c such that

- L cF is not nef;
- L c'F is nef for any integer c' < c.

We denote this number c for L by e_L . In particular, since L itself is nef, we have

 $e_L > 0.$

We have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a surface fibration, and F be a general fiber. Let L be a nef line bundle on X such that LF > 0 and $h^0(L - e_L F) > 0$. Then the linear system $|L - e_L F|$ has a fixed part Z > 0. Moreover,

Proof. By our assumption, we can write

$$|L - e_L F| = |L_1| + Z,$$

where $|L_1|$ is the movable part, and Z is the fixed part. By the definition of e_L , $L - e_L F$ is not nef. Then there exists an irreducible and reduced curve C on X such that

$$(L - e_L F)C < 0,$$

which implies $Z \ge C > 0$. Again by the definition of e_L , $L - (e_L - 1)F$ is nef. For the above C, we have

$$(L - (e_L - 1)F)C = (L - e_L F)C + FC \ge 0,$$

i.e., FC > 0. Therefore,

$$ZF \ge FC > 0.$$

We have the following general theorem.

Theorem 2.2. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a surface fibration, and F be a general fiber. Let L be a nef divisor on X such that LF > 0 and $h^0(L) > 0$. We can get the following sequence of triples

$$\{(L_i, Z_i, a_i) : i = 0, 1, \cdots, n\}$$

such that

- $(L_0, Z_0, a_0) = (L, 0, e_L)$ and $a_i = e_{L_i}$ for $i \ge 0$;
- We have

$$|L_{i-1} - e_{L_i}F| = |L_i| + Z_i,$$

where L_i (resp. Z_i) is the movable part (resp. fixed part) of the linear system $|L_{i-1} - e_{L_i}F|$ for 0 < i < n;

- $h^0(L'_n) = 0;$
- $LF = L_0F > L_1F > \dots > L_nF \ge 0.$

Proof. The triple $(L_{i+1}, Z_{i+1}, a_{i+1})$ can be obtained by applying Lemma 2.1 to the triple (L_i, Z_i, a_i) . The whole process will terminate when $h^0(L_i - a_i F) = 0$. It always terminates because by Lemma 2.1, $L_i F$ decreases strictly. \Box

Now, we denote $r_i = h^0(L_i|_F)$, $d_i = L_i F$ and $L'_i = L_i - a_i F$.

Proposition 2.3. For any $j = 0, 1, \dots, n$, we have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq h^{0}(L'_{j}) + \sum_{i=0}^{j} a_{i}r_{i};$$

$$L_{0}^{2} \geq L'_{j}^{2} + 2a_{0}d_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{j} a_{i}(d_{i-1} + d_{i}) - 2(d_{0} - d_{j}).$$

Proof. We have the following exact sequence:

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(L_{i+1} - F) \longrightarrow H^0(L_{i+1}) \longrightarrow H^0(L_{i+1}|_F).$$

Then it follows that

$$h^{0}(L_{i+1} - F) \leq h^{0}(L_{i+1}) - h^{0}(L_{i+1}|_{F}) = h^{0}(L_{i+1}) - r_{i+1}.$$

By induction, we have

$$h^{0}(L'_{i+1}) = h^{0}(L_{i+1} - a_{i+1}F) \le h^{0}(L_{i+1}) - a_{i+1}r_{i+1} = h^{0}(L'_{i}) - a_{i+1}r_{i+1}$$

Note that both $L'_i + F$ and $L'_{i+1} + F$ are nef, and Z_i is effective. We get

$$L_{i}^{\prime 2} - L_{i+1}^{\prime 2} = (L_{i}^{\prime} + L_{i+1}^{\prime})(L_{i}^{\prime} - L_{i+1}^{\prime})$$

= $(L_{i}^{\prime} + L_{i+1}^{\prime})(a_{i+1}F + Z_{i+1})$
= $a_{i+1}(L_{i}^{\prime} + L_{i+1}^{\prime})F + [(L_{i}^{\prime} + F) + (L_{i+1}^{\prime} + F) - 2F]Z_{i+1}$
 $\geq a_{i+1}(d_{i} + d_{i+1}) - 2Z_{i+1}F.$

For any $j = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$, summing over $i = 0, 1, \dots, j$, we have

$$h^{0}(L'_{0}) \leq h^{0}(L'_{j}) + \sum_{i=1}^{j} a_{i}r_{i};$$

$$L'^{2}_{0} \geq L'^{2}_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{j} a_{i}(d_{i-1} + d_{i}) - 2\sum_{i=1}^{j} Z_{i}F.$$

Moreover, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{j} Z_i = L'_0 - L'_n - \sum_{i=1}^{j} a_i F.$$

It follows that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{j} Z_i F = (L'_0 - L'_j) F = d_0 - d_j.$$

Since

$$L_0^2 - {L'_0}^2 = 2a_0d_0$$

and

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq h^{0}(L'_{0}) + a_{0}r_{0},$$

the result follows.

We also have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.4. In the above setting, we have

$$2a_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n a_i - 2 \le \frac{L_0^2}{d_0}.$$

Proof. Denote $b = a_1 + \cdots + a_n$ and $Z = Z_1 + \cdots + Z_n$. We have the following linear equivalence

$$L'_0 = L'_n + bF + Z.$$

Since $L'_0 + F$ and $L'_n + F$ are both nef, it follows that

$$(L'_{0} + F)^{2} = (L'_{0} + F)(L'_{n} + F + bF + Z)$$

$$\geq (L'_{n} + F + bF + Z)(L'_{n} + F) + bd_{0}$$

$$\geq (L'_{n} + F)^{2} + b(d_{0} + d_{n}).$$

Combine with

$$L_0^2 - (L_0' + F)^2 = 2(a_0 - 1)d_0$$

We get

$$L_0^2 \ge (L'_n + F)^2 + 2(a_0 - 1)d_0 + b(d_0 + d_n) \ge d_0(2a_0 + b - 2).$$

2.2 Linear systems on curves

We need several results on linear systems on algebraic curves.

First, recall the following Clifford's theorem for special line bundles on algebraic curves. Let C be a reduced, irreducible Gorenstein curve over k. We say a line bundle L is *special* if

$$h^0(L) > 0, \qquad h^1(L) > 0.$$

We have the following theorem.

Theorem 2.5. Let C be a reduced Gorenstein curve over k, $p_a(C) \ge 2$. Let L be a line bundle on C such that $h^0(L) > 0$ and $\deg(L) \le 2p_a(C) - 2$.

1. [Clifford's Theorem] If L is special, then

$$h^0(L) \le \frac{1}{2}\deg(L) + 1.$$

Moreover, if C is not hyperelliptic, then the equality holds if and only if $L = \mathcal{O}_C$ or $L = \omega_{C/k}$.

2. If
$$h^1(L) = 0$$
, then
$$h^0(L) \leq \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{deg}(L).$$

Proof. If L is special, then the theorem is just the generalized version of Clifford's theorem in [Li2]. If $h^1(L) = 0$, by the Riemann-Roch theorem,

$$h^{0}(L) = \deg(L) - p_{a}(C) + 1 \le \frac{1}{2} \deg(L).$$

We also need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.6. Let L be a special line bundle on a hyperelliptic curve C over k such that |L| is base-point-free, then deg(L) is even.

Proof. Denote $d_L = \deg(L)$. Since L is base-point-free, we can choose $D_1, D_2 \in |L|$ and define a morphism

$$\phi = (\phi_1, \phi_2) : C \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1.$$

Here ϕ_1 is the degree two map from C to \mathbb{P}^1 by the definition of hyperelliptic curves, and ϕ_2 is the degree d_L map C to \mathbb{P}^1 induced by D_1 and D_2 . It is easy to see that either ϕ is birational from C to $\phi(C)$ or deg $\phi = 2$.

If deg $\phi = 2$, then we are done. Furthermore, we claim that ϕ can not be birational to its image.

If ϕ is birational, denote $C' = \phi(C)$. By the definition of ϕ , we can write $C' \in |d_L F_1 + 2F_2|$, where F_1 and F_2 are rules on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. And $L = \phi^* \mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2)$. We have the following short exact sequence on C':

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2) \longrightarrow \phi_*L \longrightarrow \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where \mathcal{E} is a skyscraper sheaf. Hence we have a surjection

$$H^1(\mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2)) \twoheadrightarrow H^1(\phi_*L).$$

Since L is special and ϕ is finite, we get $h^1(\mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2)) \ge h^1(\phi_*L) = h^1(L) > 0$.

On the other hand, we have another exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(-C' + F_2) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(F_2) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2) \longrightarrow 0,$$

which gives

$$H^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(F_2)) \longrightarrow H^1(\mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2)) \longrightarrow H^2(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(-C'+F_2)).$$

Now by Serre duality,

$$h^{2}(O_{\mathbb{P}^{1}\times\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-C'+F_{2})) = h^{0}(O_{\mathbb{P}^{1}\times\mathbb{P}^{1}}((d_{L}-2)F_{1}-F_{2}) = 0.$$

Moreover, using the Riemann-Roch formula on $\mathbb{P}^1\times\mathbb{P}^1,$ we get

$$h^1(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1}(F_2)) = 0,$$

which forces $h^1(\mathcal{O}_{C'}(F_2)) = 0.$

We will divide the proof of Theorem 1.1 into two parts.

2.3 Hyperelliptic case

We first prove Theorem 1.1 when F is hyperelliptic.

We know that by our reduction process, $h^0(L'_n) = 0$. By our construction, $L'_n + F$ is nef. So

$$L'_n^2 = ((L'_n + F) - F)^2 \ge -2L'_n F = -2d_n.$$

By Proposition 2.3, we get

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq h^{0}(L'_{n}) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}r_{i} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}r_{i},$$

$$L_{0}^{2} \geq L'_{n}^{2} + 2a_{0}d_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}(d_{i-1} + d_{i}) - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} Z_{i}F$$

$$\geq 2a_{0}d_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}(d_{i-1} + d_{i}) - 2d_{0}.$$

We need to deal with two different cases:

- Each $L_i|_F$ is special;
- There exists a k > 0 such that $L_0|_F, \cdots, L_{k-1}|_F$ are not special and $L_k|_F, \cdots, L_n|_F$ are special.

First, we assume that each $L_i|_F$ is special. Applying Clifford's theorem, we have

$$r_i \le \frac{1}{2}d_i + 1.$$

It yields

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) - \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} \le \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{n} (d_{i-1} - d_{i})a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}.$$

On the other hand, since F is sufficiently general, and the linear system $|L_i|$ has no fixed part for $i = 1, \dots, n$, the line bundle $L_i|_F$ is base-point-free by construction. By Lemma 2.6, d_i is even. Thus

$$d_{i-1} - d_i \ge 2$$

for $i = 2, \cdots, n$. By Lemma 2.4,

$$a_0 + \sum_{i=0}^n a_i - 2 \le \frac{L_0^2}{d_0}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} + a_{0} + \frac{3}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{n}a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}$$
$$\leq (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{3}{4d_{0}})L_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + \frac{3}{2}.$$

If d_0 is even, we also have

$$d_0 - d_1 \ge 2.$$

Hence, we have the strong bound

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} + a_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}$$
$$\leq (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2d_{0}})L_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + 1.$$

Now let us deal with the other case. From Theorem 2.5, we know

$$r_i \le \frac{1}{2}d_i, \qquad i = 0, \cdots, k - 1,$$

and

$$r_i \le \frac{1}{2}d_i + 1, \qquad i = k + 1, \cdots, n.$$

Similarly, we have

$$d_{i-1} - d_i \ge 1, \qquad i = 0, \cdots, k,$$

and

$$d_{i-1} - d_i \ge 2, \qquad i = k+1, \cdots, n.$$

Thus we have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) - \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} \leq \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} a_{i} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=k+1}^{n} (d_{i-1} - d_{i})a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + \left(r_{k} - \frac{1}{2}d_{k} - \frac{1}{4}(d_{k-1} - d_{k})\right)a_{k}$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=k+1}^{n} a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + \left(r_{k} - \frac{1}{2}d_{k} - \frac{1}{4}(d_{k-1} - d_{k})\right)a_{k}.$$

If $d_{k-1} - d_k \ge 2$, we have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) - \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} \le \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=k}^{n}a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}.$$

If $d_{k-1} - d_k = 1$, we know that $r_k \le r_{k-1} - 1$. So

$$r_k \le r_{k-1} - 1 \le \frac{1}{2}d_{k-1} - 1 = \frac{1}{2}d_k + \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence we still have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) - \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} < \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=k}^{n}a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}.$$

By Lemma 2.4 again,

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) < (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2d_{0}})L_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + 1.$$

Remark 2.7. We see from the proof that when f is hyperelliptic and d_0 is even, if the above equality holds, then

$$d_i - d_{i+1} = 2$$

for 0 < i < n and

$$r_i = \frac{1}{2}d_i + 1$$

for $0 \leq i \leq n$.

2.4 Non-hyperelliptic case

In this case, for $i = 1, \dots, n-1$, we have the following stronger Clifford's theorem:

$$r_i \le \frac{1}{2}d_i + \frac{1}{2}.$$

For i = 0 or i = n, it also holds if $L_i|_F$ is neither trivial nor $\omega_{F/k}$.

First, we assume $L_n|_F$ is not trivial. Using the strong bound, we get

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) - \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} \leq \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}r_{i} - \frac{1}{2}a_{0}d_{0} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}(d_{i-1} + d_{i}) + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}$$

$$\leq a_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}(d_{i-1} - d_{i}) + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}$$

$$< a_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}.$$

By Lemma 2.4,

$$a_0 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n a_i \le \frac{L_0^2}{2d_0} + 1.$$

We have

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) < (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2d_{0}})L_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + 1.$$

If $L_n|_F$ is trivial, it gives

$$\begin{aligned} h^{0}(L_{0}) &- \frac{1}{4}L_{0}^{2} &\leq \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}r_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}d_{i} - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}(d_{i-1} - d_{i}) + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} \\ &\leq a_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} a_{i} + a_{n} - a_{n}(d_{n-1} - d_{n}) + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} \\ &\leq a_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0}. \end{aligned}$$

Here the equality will not hold unless n = 1 and $d_0 = 1$. By Lemma 2.4 again, it yields

$$h^{0}(L_{0}) \leq (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2d_{0}})L_{0}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}d_{0} + 1.$$

It ends the proof of Theorem 1.1.

2.5 Proof of Theorem 1.2

Now, Theorem 1.2 becomes straightforward. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a relatively minimal fibration. It is well-known that in this case, the relative dualizing sheaf ω_f is nef. Moveover, $\omega_f F = 2g - 2$. Applying Theorem 1.1, we can directly get Theorem 1.2.

Now we only need to characterize the case when the equality in Theorem 1.2 holds. We can assume that f is not a trivial fibration. Suppose the equality holds in 1.2 and f is not hyperelliptic. The only possibility is when $d_0 = 1$, which can not happen here because $d_0 = \omega_f F = 2g - 2$ has to be even.

3 Slope inequality

In this section, we prove Theorem 1.3. By the Riemann-Roch theorem, Theorem 1.2 implies a slope inequality with an "error term." To get rid of the "error term," we consider base change to coverings of Y, and take a limit. The argument is straight-forward if $g(Y) \leq 1$. In general, the covering trick only works in positive characteristics. To get the result in characteristic 0, we use a reduction argument.

3.1 Slope inequality for $g(Y) \leq 1$

In this section, we apply Theorem 1.2 to give a new proof of the slope inequality for fibered surfaces over \mathbb{P}^1 and elliptic curves. We first give the following lemma.

Lemma 3.1. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a relatively minimal surface fibration of genus g. Then

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + gb.$$

Here b = g(Y).

Proof. By Theorem 1.2, we have

$$h^0(\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + g.$$

On the other hand, using the Riemann-Roch theorem on Y,

$$h^{0}(\omega_{f}) = h^{0}(f_{*}\omega_{f}) \ge \deg(f_{*}\omega_{f}) + g(1-b).$$

It follows that

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + gb.$$

Theorem 3.2. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a relatively minimal surface fibration of genus g. Assume that $g(Y) \leq 1$. Then

$$\omega_f^2 \ge \frac{4g-4}{g} \deg(f_*\omega_f)$$

Proof. If g(Y) = 0, then the result is just Lemma 3.1.

Now, suppose that Y is an elliptic curve over k and that $\mu : Y \to Y$ is the multiplication by n such that n and char k are coprime with each other. Denote $X' = X \times_{\pi} Y$. We get a new fibration $f' : X' \to Y$ which is just the pull-back of f by μ . Applying Lemma 3.1 to f', it follows that

$$\deg(f'_*\omega_{f'}) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_{f'}^2 + g$$

On the other hand, since the base change is étale, we have the following facts:

$$\deg(f'_*\omega_{f'}) = n^2 \deg(f_*\omega_f), \quad \omega_{f'}^2 = n^2 \omega_f^2,$$

which gives us

$$n^2 \deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{n^2 g}{4g - 4} \omega_f^2 + g,$$

i.e.,

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + \frac{g}{n^2}$$

We can prove our result by letting $n \to \infty$.

Remark 3.3. In the case $b = g(Y) \ge 2$, if we directly use an étale base change $\pi : Y' \to Y$, then g(Y') also increases. Therefore, we can not prove the general slope inequality using the above argument. However, we still want to use the base change trick and control g(Y') at the same time, which motivates us to consider the reduction mod \wp method.

3.2 Slope inequality in positive characteristic

We first prove the slope inequality when char k = p > 0. This is also crucial for us to prove the slope inequality for char k = 0. Actually, the proof is quite similar to the proof of Theorem 3.2.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a semistable fibration of genus g. By Lemma 3.1 to f, it follows that

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + gb,$$

where b = g(Y).

Now let $F_Y: Y \to Y$ be the absolute Frobenius morphism of Y. Via this base change, we get a new fibration

$$f': X' \to Y,$$

where X' is the minimal desingularization of the normal surface $X \times_{F_Y} Y$. Thus f' is still semistable. Applying Lemma 3.1 again to f', it follows that

$$\deg(f'_*\omega_{f'}) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_{f'}^2 + gb.$$

Moreover, we have the following facts:

$$\deg(f'_*\omega_{f'}) = p \deg(f_*\omega_f), \quad \omega_{f'}^2 = p \,\omega_f^2,$$

We obtain

$$p \deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{pg}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + gb,$$

i.e.,

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 + \frac{gb}{p}.$$

We can prove our result by iterating this Frobenius base change.

Actually, using the same idea, we can get a more general result for line bundles of small degree in positive characteristics, which is similar to Theorem 1.3.

Theorem 3.4. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a surface fibration of genus g > 0 over a field k of positive characteristic, and L be a nef line bundle on X. Assume that $2 \le d = \deg(L|_F) \le 2g - 2$, where F is a general fiber of f. Then

$$L^2 \ge \frac{4d}{d+2+\varepsilon} \deg(f_*L).$$

Here, $\varepsilon = 1$ if F is hyperelliptic and d is odd. Otherwise, $\varepsilon = 0$.

Proof. The proof is the same as the proof of the slope inequality in positive characteristic. We just sketch here.

First, by Theorem 1.1, we have

$$h^{0}(L) \leq (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2+\varepsilon}{4d})L^{2} + \frac{d+2+\varepsilon}{2}$$

The Riemann-Roch theorem on Y gives us

$$h^{0}(L) = h^{0}(f_{*}L) \ge \deg(f_{*}L) + r(1-b),$$

where b = g(Y) and $r = h^0(L|_F)$. Combine them together and we get

$$\deg(f_*L) \le (\frac{1}{4} + \frac{2+\varepsilon}{4d})L^2 + \frac{d+2+\varepsilon}{2} + r(b-1).$$

Now we apply the Frobenius base change iteration as above. Finally, we eliminate the constant term. $\hfill \Box$

3.3 Slope inequality in characteristic 0

Now we can prove the slope inequality for char k = 0. We have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.5. Let X, Y, Z be integral schemes, and $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to Z$ be proper and flat morphisms of relative dimension one. Assume that f is a local complete intersection and g is smooth. Then the numbers

$$\deg f_{z_*}(\omega_{X_z/Y_z})$$
 and ω_{X_z/Y_z}^2

are independent of $z \in Z$. Here $f_z : X_z \to Y_z$ denotes the fiber of $f : X \to Y$ over z, and ω_{X_z/Y_z} denotes the relative dualizing sheaf of X_z over Y_z .

Proof. The invariance of deg $f_{z_*}(\omega_{X_z/Y_z})$ is an interpretation of the determinant line bundle. Recall that for any line bundle L on X, the determinant line bundle $\lambda_f(L)$ is a line bundle on Y such that, for any $y \in Y$, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\lambda_f(L) \simeq \det H^*(X_y, L_y) = \det H^0(X_y, L_y) \otimes \det H^1(X_y, L_y)^{\vee}.$$

The construction is functorial.

In the setting of the lemma, consider the determinant line bundle $M = \lambda_f(\omega_{X/Y})$. Restricted to Y_z , we have

$$M|_{Y_z} = (\det f_{z*}\omega_{X_z/Y_z}) \otimes (\det R^1 f_{z*}\omega_{X_z/Y_z})^{\vee} = \det f_{z*}\omega_{X_z/Y_z}.$$

Here we used the canonical isomorphism $R^1 f_{z*} \omega_{X_z/Y_z} = \mathcal{O}_{Y_z}$ following the duality theorem. Therefore, we simply have

$$\deg f_{z*}\omega_{X_z/Y_z} = \deg(M|_{Y_z}).$$

It is independent of z.

The invariance of ω_{X_z/Y_z}^2 follows from the definition of the Deligne pairing introduced in [De]. In fact, the Deligne pairing $N = \langle \omega_{X/Y}, \omega_{X/Y} \rangle$ is a line bundle on Y such that

$$\omega_{X_z/Y_z}^2 = \deg(N|_{Y_z}), \quad \forall z \in Z$$

It is also independent of z.

The proof does not work for arbitrary line bundles of small degree since we used the duality theorem above.

Go back to our setting. Suppose that $f: X \to Y$ is a semistable fibration over of characteristic 0. By the Lefschetz principle, one can assume that k is finitely generated over \mathbb{Q} . Let \mathcal{Z} be an integral scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z}

with the function field k. Shrink \mathcal{Z} by an open subset and replace it by a finite cover if necessary. We are able to extend the composition $X \to Y \to \text{Spec}(k)$ to $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Z}$ satisfying the conditions of the lemma.

Now choose a nonzero prime $\wp \in \mathcal{Z}$ such that $f_{\wp} : \mathcal{X}_{\wp} \to \mathcal{Y}_{\wp}$ is a semistable fibration over the field k/\wp . By the slope inequality in positive characteristic, we have

$$\omega_{f_{\wp}}^2 \ge \frac{4g-4}{g} \deg(f_{\wp_*} \omega_{f_{\wp}}).$$

By Lemma 3.5, the slope inequality holds for f over k.

3.4 Arakelov inequality

Now Theorem 1.4 is straightforward. Suppose that char k > 0. Let f be a non-isotrivial semistable fibration of genus $g \ge 2$ over k. Let $S \subset Y$ be the singular locus over which f degenerates. The proof of Theorem 1.4 is just the combination of the slope inequality in positive characteristic and the following Szpiro's inequality (cf. [Sz, Prop. 4.2]):

$$\omega_f^2 < (4g - 4)g \deg \Omega_Y(S).$$

Therefore,

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) \le \frac{g}{4g-4}\omega_f^2 < g^2 \deg \Omega_Y(S).$$

4 Proof of Severi inequality

In this section, we give the proof of Theorem 1.5 using Theorem 1.2. We start this section by first recalling some basic facts about surface fibrations.

4.1 Basic facts

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a surface fibration of g over k. Denote b = g(Y). Then

$$\omega_f = \omega_{X/k} \otimes f^* \omega_{Y/k}^{\vee}$$

where $\omega_{X/k}$ (resp. $\omega_{Y/k}$) is the canonical bundle of X (resp. Y). We have the following formulae between the absolute invariants of X and the relative invariants of f:

$$\omega_f^2 = \omega_{X/k}^2 - 8(g-1)(b-1),$$

$$\deg(f_*\omega_f) = \chi(\mathcal{O}_X) - (g-1)(b-1).$$

Here, by Serre duality,

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_X) = h^0(\omega_{X/k}) - h^1(\mathcal{O}_X) + 1.$$

4.2 Construction of fibrations

In order to apply Theorem 1.2, we need to construct certain fibrations. The construction is essentially due to [Pa]. Here we use a slightly simpler one. However, for the completeness of the paper, we still give the details.

Let X be a minimal surface of general type with maximal Albanese dimension. Denote $Alb_X : X \to A$ to be the Albanese map, where A = Alb(X)is an abelian variety of dimension m over k. We only have $m \leq h^{1,0}(X)$, but since X is of maximal Albanese dimension, it is always safe for us to use the bound

 $m \geq 2.$

Let H be a very ample line bundle on A, and L be the pull-back of H on X. Set

$$\alpha = L^2, \quad \beta = \omega_{X/k}L.$$

Since X is of general type, α and β are both strictly positive.

Let $\mu : A \to A$ be the multiplication by n, where n > 1 is an integer. If char k = p > 0, we assume n and p to be coprime. We have the following base change:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X' \xrightarrow{\tau} X \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \mu \\ A \xrightarrow{\mu} & A \end{array}$$

where $X' = X \times_{\mu} A$. We have

$$\omega_{X'/k}^2 = n^{2m} \omega_{X/k}^2, \quad \chi(\mathcal{O}_{X'}) = n^{2m} \chi(\mathcal{O}_X).$$

We also have the following numerically equivalence on A:

$$\mu^* H \sim_{\text{num}} n^2 H$$

which yields

$$\tau^*L \sim_{\text{num}} n^2L'.$$

Here $L' = \nu^* H$. It follows that

$$L'^2 = n^{2m-4}\alpha, \quad \omega_{X'_n/k}L' = n^{2m-2}\beta.$$

Now choose $C_1, C_2 \in |L'|$ to be two general curves which intersect each other transversally. Here C_1 and C_2 might not be smooth, which could happen if char k > 0. But since |L'| is base point free, we can assume that C_1 and C_2 are both reduced, irreducible Gorenstein curves [Jo, Li2]. Moreover, we know C_1 and C_2 intersect at $n^{2m-4}\alpha$ points. After blowing up these points, we get a surface fibration $f: X'' \to \mathbb{P}^1$. It follows that

$$\omega_{X''/k}^2 = \omega_{X'/k}^2 - n^{2m-4}\alpha = n^{2m}\omega_{X/k}^2 - n^{2m-4}\alpha, \tag{1}$$

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X''}) = \chi(\mathcal{O}_{X'}) = n^{2m} \chi(\mathcal{O}_X).$$
(2)

It is straightforward that f is relatively minimal. In order to apply Theorem 1.2, we need to compute the genus of the fiber, which is just $p_a(C_i)$. By the genus formula,

$$g = p_a(C_i) = 1 + \frac{\omega_{X'/k}L' + L'^2}{2} = 1 + \frac{n^{2m-2}\beta + n^{2m-4}\alpha}{2}.$$
 (3)

Also note that f is a fibration over \mathbb{P}^1 . We have

$$\omega_f = \omega_{X''/k} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X''}(2F),$$

where F is a general fiber of f. Hence

$$\omega_f^2 = \omega_{X''/k}^2 + 8(g-1). \tag{4}$$

Moreover, it follows that

$$h^{0}(\omega_{f}) \ge h^{0}(\omega_{X''/k}) = h^{0}(\omega_{X'/k}) \ge \chi(\mathcal{O}_{X'}) - 1 = n^{2m}\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X}) - 1.$$
 (5)

In [Pa], in order to get a singular fiber and apply the slope inequality for such a fibration, C_1 and C_2 were chosen from |2L'| and $C_1 = D_1 + D_2$ was singular, where $D_1, D_2 \in |L'|$. Here, Theorem 1.2 works for any fibration, so we do not need this.

4.3 Proof of Theorem 1.5

Now we reach the end of the proof. Theorem 1.2 for f tells us that

$$\omega_f^2 \ge (4 - \frac{4}{g})h^0(\omega_f) + (4g - 4), \tag{6}$$

Combine (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) together. We finally get

$$n^{2m}\omega_{X/k}^2 - O(n^{2m-4}) \ge (4 - \frac{4}{O(n^{2m-2})})n^{2m}\chi(\mathcal{O}_X) + O(n^{2m-2}).$$

Because $m \ge 2$, the proof is completed by letting $n \to \infty$.

References

- [Ar] S. Ju. Arakelov, Families of algebraic curves with fixed degeneracies, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 35 (1971), 1269–1293.
- [BHPV] W. Barth, K. Hulek, C. Peters, Van de Ven, Compact complex surfaces, Second edition. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics. 4. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- [BL] Ch. Birkenhake, H. Lange, Complex abelian varieties, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 302. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer 1992.
- [Bo] J. B. Bost, Semi-stability and heights of cycles, Invent. Math. 118 (1994), no. 2, 223–253.
- [Ca] F. Catanese, Moduli of surfaces of general type, Algebraic geometry open problems (Ravello, 1982), 90–112, Lecture Notes in Math., 997, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1983.
- [CH] M. Cornalba, J. Harris, Divisor classes associated to families of stable varieties, with applications to the moduli space of curves, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 21 (1988), no. 3, 455–475.
- [De] P. Deligne, Le déterminant de la cohomologie. Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985), 93177, Contemp. Math., 67, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987.
- [Ha] R. Hartshorne, *Algebraic geometry*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977.
- [Ho] E. Horikawa, Algebraic surfaces of general type with small c_1^2 . I, Ann. of Math. (2) **104** (1976), no. 2, 357–387.
- [Ig] J. Igusa, A fundamental inequality in the theory of Picard varieties, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 41 (1955), 317–320.
- [Jo] J. -P. Jouanolou, Théorèmes de Bertini et Applications, Progress in Mathematics 42. Basel: Birkhäuser, 1983.

- [Ko] K, Konno, Even canonical surfaces with small K². III, Nagoya Math. J. 143 (1996), 1–11.
- [Li1] C. Liedtke, Algebraic surfaces in positive characteristic, to be published.
- [Li2] C. Liedtke, Algebraic surfaces of general type with small c_1^2 in positive characteristic, Nagoya Math. J. **191** (2008), 111–134.
- [Li3] C. Liedtke, Surfaces with inseparable Albanese maps, unpublished.
- [LSZ] J. Lu, M. Sheng, K. Zuo, An Arakelov inequality in characteristic p and upper bound of p-rank zero locus, J. Number Theory 129 (2009), no. 12, 3029–3045.
- [Ma] M. Manetti, Surfaces of Albanese general type and the Severi conjecture, Math. Nachr. 261–262 (2003), 105–122.
- [Mo] A. Moriwaki, Bogomolov conjecture over function fields for stable curves with only irreducible fibers, Compositio Math. 105 (1997), no. 2, 125–140.
- [Pa] R. Pardini, The Severi inequality $K^2 \ge 4\chi$ for surfaces of maximal Albanese dimension, Invent. Math. **159** (2005), no. 3, 669–672.
- [Re] M. Reid, π_1 for surfaces with small c_1^2 , Lect. Notes Math., **732**, 534–544. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer 1979.
- [Se] F. Severi, La serie canonica e la teoria delle serie principali de gruppi di punti sopra una superificie algebrica, Comment. Math. Helv. 4 (1932), 268–326.
- [S-B] N. I. Shepherd-Barron, Geography for surfaces of general type in positive characteristic, Invent. Math. 106 (1991), no. 2, 263–274.
- [Sz] L. Szpiro, Sur le théorème de rigidité de Parsin et Arakelov, Journées de Géométrie Algébrique de Rennes (Rennes, 1978), Vol. II, pp. 169– 202, Astérisque, 64, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1979.
- [Ta] J. Tate, Genus change in inseparable extensions of function fields, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 3 (1952), 400–406.

- [Vi] E. Viehweg, Arakelov (in)equality, arXiv: 0812.3350.
- [VZ1] E. Viehweg, K. Zuo, On the isotriviality of families of projective manifolds over curves, J. Algebraic Geom. 10 (2001), no. 4, 781–799.
- [VZ2] E. Viehweg, K. Zuo, Numerical bounds for semi-stable families of curves or of certain higher-dimensional manifolds, J. Algebraic Geom. 15 (2006), no. 4, 771–791.
- [Xi1] G. Xiao, Fibered algebraic surfaces with low slope, Math. Ann. 276 (1987), no. 3, 449–466.
- [Xi2] G. Xiao, π_1 of elliptic and hyperelliptic surfaces, Int. J. Math. 2 (1991), no. 5, 599–615.
- [YZ] X. Yuan, T. Zhang, *Effective bound of linear series on arithmetic surfaces*, Duke Math. J., to appear.
- [Zh] T. Zhang, Effective Hilbert-Samuel inequality and slope inequality on arithmetic surfaces, Ph.D Thesis, East China Normal University (2012).
- [Zu] K. Zuo, Yau's form of Schwarz lemma and Arakelov inequality on moduli spaces of projective manifolds, Handbook of geometric analysis. No. 1, 659–676, Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), 7, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2008.